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PROLOGUE
of the Interparliamentary Assembly on Orthodoxy (I.A.O.)

It is with great satisfaction that the Interparliamentary Assembly on Orthodoxy is
presenting —in cooperation with the Governor of Beirut Mr. Ziad Chebib- to the
citizens of Beirut, the peace and progress loving Lebanese people, the exhibition
of paper icons with the title: «Virgin Mariam. Icons from Her Holy Garden Mount
Athos».

The exhibition will be held in the framework of the conference we are organizing
with the Lebanese Parliament in collaboration with the Arab Inter-Parliamentary
Union, on the 3rd and 4th of April with the subject “Unity in diversity and fun-
damental principles of freedom for Christians and Muslims of the Middle East: A
conference on parliamentary dialogue”.

The Theotokos Mariam, a historic and sacred person, not only for the Christians
but for every person of good faith as well, represents, over time, the care and love of
each and every suffering person and, thus, the endeavours of all for the solution of
the problems of the modern world and for the advent of peace over the wider area
of the Middle East.

It is the duty of each and every socially responsible human of our time to contribute
individually or via joint initiatives between citizens and parliaments to the finding
of peaceful solutions that will contribute to the survival and growth of the poor
and weak of the world at large. The I.A.O. which has been present and active in the
parliamentary world for 25 years, is standing on the side of each and every individ-
ual that feels weak in the face of threats against his personal and family peace and
happiness or even against his very life. The I.A.O. is also extending the hand of co-
operation to every agency, religious or social entity working for peace in the world.

Please enjoy the exhibition.
Athens - Beirut, April 2018

The President The I.A.O. Secretary General
of the General Assembly of I.A.O.

Sergey Popov Dr. Andreas Michailidis

Member of the Federation Council Member of the Hellenic Parliament
of the Federal Assembly of Russia



Our Lady Portaitissa (Keeper of the Gate) and the monastery of Iviron
Copper engraving, 59.8x50.3 cm « Moscow, November 1838 « Engraver: unknown




THE ABBESS OF MOUNT ATHOS

F rom the 5" century, with the gradual development of the ecclesiastical feasts in honor
of the Mother of God and the erection of churches dedicated to Her, the veneration to
her person was initially consolidated in the East. Her position in the Christian world was
crystalized in saint John Damascene’s (676-749 AD) phrase “We honor and reverence the
Mother of God”. Among the feastdays consecrated to the Theotokos, some relate to the life
of Jesus Christ (the Presentation of our Lord in the temple, the Annunciation of the Virgin
Mary, the Synaxis of the Virgin Mary), others to events of Her life according to Church
tradition (the Nativity of the Theotokos, the Entry of the Mother of God into the Temple,
the Dormition of the Theotokos), and others are in remembrance of miraculous deeds per-
formed by the Theotokos (the Life-giving Spring, the placement of the venerable Robe of
the Virgin Mary at Blachernae and the veneration of Her Holy Belt).

According to a very old Christian tradition, after the end of Her life on earth, the Mother
of Jesus Christ was buried near Gethsemane, but shortly afterwards the body disappeared
because it “was assumed by God into a place of brilliant light and incorruption in the heav-
enly vaults”.

An ancient tradition recorded in Athonite codices, describes the relationship of the Virgin
Mary with the Holy Mountain. It narrates that, on her way to Cyprus, She found herself at
the peninsula of Athos because Her ship was blown off course due to a sea storm. In admi-
ration of the land’s beauty, She asked Her Son to give Her this place as “Her own” in order
to turn it into a place of repentance for those who wanted to depart from “the worldly con-
fusions”, knowing that soon this place “shall be filled by orders of monks”

Thus, in the Athonite tradition and practice, Mount Athos became “the Garden of the Vir-
gin Mary”, and the Mother of God became “the Abbess of Athos”. The monks became the
workers of repentance, praising and venerating Her as a model of purity and moral perfec-
tion and seeking Her intercession as the Mother of God. Furthermore, the request of the
Theotokos to Her Son, “glorify this place more than any other place’, has been fulfilled in
the historic course of time, in which Mount Athos has acquired and retained its ecumenical
character.

The Christian iconographic tradition related to the Virgin Mary is, of course, very exten-
sive. In the works of the Athonite monks especially, there is a plethora of iconographic
types, some of which took their final form in the Byzantine era while others received more
recent influences. The names vary depending on the Virgin Mary’s posture, the feastdays of
Her veneration, the miracles attributed to Her or the place connected to the icon.

Especially in the Athonite engravings, there are scenes from the Theotokos’ life that are
connected with the historic tradition of the Athonite monasteries. Among hundreds of en-
gravings from Mount Athos, there are certain iconographic types that prevail: The Queen
of the Angels (Mary holding the infant and surrounded by angels); the “Platytera” (Wider
than the Heavens: seated in her throne, holding the infant, having a cloud as a footstool or
standing with Her arms outstretched); the “Galaktotrophousa” (Virgin Lactans: breastfeed-
ing the baby); the “Glykophilousa” (Tenderly-kissing: touching the child’s cheek with hers);



the “Hodegetria” (She who shows the way: slightly turned to the right in relation to the
viewer, holding Jesus in Her left arm and He, blessing with His right hand); the Unfading
Rose (seated in royal garb, holding Jesus in Her left arm and a rose in Her right hand), the
“Axion Estin” (It is truly meet: the Theotokos inclines Her head slightly towards Jesus sup-
porting Him with Her left hand, while with the other, She holds onto His right hand, itself
holding a scroll) etc.

The honor and veneration of the holy icons is an essential part of the Orthodox Church’s
dogma, which accepts that “the images of our Lord Jesus Christ, and those of the undefiled
Mother of God and ever-virgin Mary, and of the honorable Angels and of all the Saints,
should be venerated and kissed”.

At every step and in each monastery of the Holy Mountain we come across miracle-work-
ing icons of the Theotokos that witness to the living tradition of Her visible presence. In-
dicatively, in the church of the Protaton we find the icons of the “Axion Estin” (It is truly
meet) and the Synaxis of the Saints of Athos; in the monastery of Great Lavra, the miracle
of the Most Holy Theotokos with saint Athanasios and the “Acheiropoietos” (made without
hands) of Skete Prodromou; in Vatopedi monastery, the Annunciation, the “Esphagmeni”
(the Slaughtered: the name refers to the damage caused to the icon by a monk), and the
“Vimatarissa” (or “Ktitorissa’, the main icon of the monastery, placed on the Synthronon in
the holy altar of the katholikon); the “Portaitissa” (Our Lady Keeper of the Gate) situated
in a chapel close to the gate of Iviron monastery; in Hilandar monastery, the “Tricherousa”
(Three-Handed - according to the iconographic type of “Hodegetria”: the third hand is
that of saint John Damascene severed on account of his iconophily and miraculously re-
stored by the Virgin Mother) and the “Galaktotrophousa” in the Typikarion at Karyes; in
Pantokrator monastery, the icon of the “Gerontissa” (known as “the Abbess” because She
interceeded in favor of an abbot); in Philotheou monastery, the icon of Panagia “Glykophil-
ousa’; in Dionysiou monastery, the icon of the Akathist Hymn, which is possibly the oldest
icon of the Theotokos on Mount Athos.

It would be impossible to imagine the world of our own East without the century long
honor to the Theotokos. Her tradition —as the reproduction of the word- could not be di-
vided from the rich iconography, the hundreds of icons in reference to the Virgin Mother.
Throughout the almost eleven centuries of continuous monastic life, the Holy Mountain
accumulated unchangeable traditions that are reflected in the portable icons and engrav-
ings of the Theotokos; it also accumulated “representations” that incessantly revive the
century long traditions. At times, the secular researcher feels perplexed as he’s faced with
this interaction, something that is not similarly met in a secular environment. He feels that
the monks live on the Holy Mountain in order to give substance to the traditions and that
they become the living vehicles of the old continuity. Moreover, if the human mind was to
accept the miracle of Jesus’ birth by the Virgin Mother, it would be rid of all contradictions
and vain questions, and the old continuity would acquire its full meaning once again. Tra-
dition, then, would not be seen as coming from the past, but as pouring out from within us;
it becomes our daily reality.



ATHONITE ENGRAVING
Landscape, Monuments, Icons

F rom the last quarter of the 18th until the end of the 19th century, hundreds of en-
graving plates were created in the workshops of the Mount Athos, from which tens of
thousands of images, with mostly Athonite but also other religious subjects, were printed
on paper. From as early as the beginning of the 18th century, before the foundation of the
Athonite workshops, monasteries would give orders to the engraving centres of the time,
especially in Venice. Over time, these orders placed outside the Holy Mountain did not
cease, but were certainly reduced, while at the same time their geographical range expand-
ed. Thus we find subjects engraved in Moscow in the mid-18th century.

Throughout the 19th century, there was an upsurge in the activity of the Athonite work-
shops. However, it is only in recent years that research has rescued Athonite engraving
from obscurity. The pioneer in the study and publication of these works was Dory Papas-
tratos, with her monumental edition “Paper Icons. Orthodox Religious Engravings, 1665-
1899”. Her efforts have been continued by the Monastery of Simonopetra, in particular by
Hieromonk Ioustinos and the late researcher George Golobias, who located, recorded, and
studied Athonite engravings in collections all over the world. The fruit of this research over
many years is the volume “Athonite Engraving” which is under publication. In fact, the
monastery has assembled the most complete collection of Athonite engravings anywhere in
the world.

For the period from the end of the 18th until the end of the 19th centuries, research has lo-
cated at least 50 engravers on the Holy Mountain who worked with copper plates. Over two
dozen workshops have also been located, mainly in Karyes, which printed the engravings
from the plates created by the Athonite engravers.

Because of their weight, the copper engraving plates were kept in monasteries and ske-

tes where workshops had formerly operated. The printed engravings, on the other hand,
travelled outside the Mountain, because that is what they were designed to do: to bring the
Holy Mountain close to the faithful throughout the Orthodox world. The distribution of
the engravings created a spiritual and psychological link between distant Athos and devout
Orthodox everywhere, and also brought financial relief to the struggling Athonite mon-
asteries. In order to deal with emergencies (fires, acts of God, excessive taxation and high
debts), monasteries often had to resort to collections, with designated monks travelling
around far-off places. Equipped with the appropriate permits and letters of introduction,
the monks undertook lengthy journeys in order to collect alms from the faithful. This is re-
corded in history as “zeteia” (fund-raising). The engravings —or paper icons- facilitated this
fund-raising, because they were given as a “blessing” from the monastery to the faithful.

With few exceptions, the Athonite engravings have a religious content. They depict the
Holy Mountain, its monasteries and sketes, Christ, Our Lady, Archangels, Saints and other
subjects. Athos is depicted as twin-peaked with its saints and monasteries placed in the im-
age in an abstract manner. This subject matter, which can be found from the 18th century,
was repeated many times. In a good number of paper icons, the central theme is a monas-
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tery with its saints. The monastery is not presented as an independent subject, that is, as a
complex of buildings with its surrounding area. The engraver was not interested in provid-
ing architectural or geographical details, nor in showing the beauty of the landscape. In his
work he was rather indifferent to secular accuracy, since what he was doing was closer to
prayer. Athonite engraving shows the simplicity, the spontaneity and the folk style of the
post-Byzantine icons. Each monastery is presented as a popular, religious message: with
the saints protecting it, the founders, the benefactors and, of course, the holy relics, as well
as distinctive features of its structural appearance.

The patron saint of the monastery had a central position in each engraving, which also
functioned, in part, as an icon of the saint. Thus, the message included in each engraving
of a monastery was exceptionally condensed so that —irrespective of its artistic value- it
met the spiritual requirements of the faithful, since most of them would not have been able
to undertake the long and expensive journey to Athos.

The enormous difference between Athonite and secular engraving at the time was the pow-
erful presence of the spiritual, non-material world. The role of Athonite engraving was to

put the monastery into the everyday life of thousands of ordinary people, living many miles
away. The explanatory inscriptions, in two —or even three languages sometimes- in the mar-
gins of the icon confirmed their destination and bear witness to the widespread circulation of
the engravings.

It was this feature of the paper icons which led to them being called “the icons of the
poor”. Icons painted on wood cost a great deal of money and were beyond the reach of the
overwhelming majority of the population, in times and places with a very low standard of
living. But a paper icon, since it was reproduced in large numbers from a copper plate, was
affordable. At the same time, it linked the monastery directly with the faithful, because

it brought them its blessing. In this way, the Holy Mountain acquired a presence in the
icon-corners of the Orthodox in Southern and Eastern Europe. The Athonite engravers
also accepted orders from outside the Mountain and created subjects of interest to a wider
Orthodox public, in order to attract pilgrims.

The largest unit of engravings are the paper, religious images of Jesus, the Mother of God,
the Archangels and the Saints. The saints are portrayed either individually or together
with others (such as Saints Dimitrios and George who are depicted together, the latter
being a particularly popular and oft-repeated subject). It should be noted that among the
saints, there are also new martyrs, who had been killed for their faith fairly recently, such
as Konstantinos from Hydra and George from Ioannina. Their memory was already being
celebrated and honoured throughout the Balkans.

The copper plate was a valuable and expensive material and could be used repeatedly. It
could be changed, corrected or renovated. And so, in the paper icons, we find subjects with
slight variations between them. The copper plate with Our Lady Keeper of the Gate and the
Monastery of Iviron was created in Moscow in 1838 and renovated in an Athonite work-
shop some years later.

The representative engravings which follow have been divided into a convenient arrange-
ment of two units: a) The Holy Place and its Monuments; b) Holy Icons. As has already
been mentioned, however, the first unit also contains icons of saints, since the Athonite
milieu cannot be understood without its religious content.






The Holy Place and its Monuments
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1 General view of Mount Athos
Copper engraving, 26.9x36.5 cm
(Mount Athos), ca. 1770
Engraver: unknown
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2 General view of Mount Athos
Copper engraving, 50.5x65.5 cm
Mount Athos, 1867

Engraver: Ioannis Kaldis
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3 The Monastery of Great Lavra
Cooper engraving, 69.6x49.2 cm
Mount Athos, 8 July 1868
Engraver: unknown
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4 The Monastery of Vatopedi
Cooper engraving, 51.8x75.9 cm
Venice, 1792

Engraver: unknown
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5 The Monastery of Hilandar

Copper engraving, 72.4x51.4 cm
(Vienna), 1779

Engraver: (Zacharias Orphelin)
Restored: (Mount Athos), early 19th c.
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6 The Monastery of Simonopetra
Copper engraving, 77.4x53.2 cm
Mount Athos, 20 May 1868
Drawer: (Dionysios the painter)
Engraver: Ioannis Kaldis
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7 The Monastery of Stavronikita
Cooper engraving, 38x31 cm
(Mount Athos), 9 August 1838
Engraver: Monk Cyril
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8 The Monastery of Philotheou
Copper engraving, 56x41.6 cm
(Mount Athos), 3 February 1847
Engraver: Monk Cyril
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9 The Monastery of Saint Paul
Cooper engraving, 60x45.5 cm
Vienna, 1 May 1798
Engraver: unknown
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10 The Monastery of Saint Panteleimon
Copper engraving, 39.5x29.9 cm

(Mount Athos), 15 March 1836

Engraver: (Monk Theophilos)

Restored: (Mount Athos), 1st half of the 19th c.
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12 The New Skete

Copper engraving, 42x29 cm

(Mount Athos), 6 June 1812

Engraver: Hieromonk Parthenios
Engraver/restorer: (Hieromonk Daniel), 1857
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13 The Nativity of the Theotokos
Cooper engraving, 29x23 cm
(Constantinople), 1807
Engraver: (Parthenios Karavias)
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14 The Annunciation of the Mother of God
Copper engraving, 39.1x29.8 cm

(Holy Mountain), 1850s

Engraver: (Hierodeacon Efthymios)
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15 The Virgin Lamenting
Cooper engraving, 48.5x39.5 cm
Mount Athos, 1847

Engraver: Hieromonk Daniel
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16 The Nativity and Baptism of Christ
Copper engraving, 40.8x58.7 cm

(Mount Athos), 1857

Engraver and sponsor: Hieromonk Daniel
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17 The Crucifixion and Resurrection of Christ
Copper engraving, 40.6x54.8 cm

(Mount Athos), mid-19th c.

Engraver: unknown
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18 The Mother of God “the Unfading Rose” and the Akathistos Hymn

Copper engraving, 99.5x73.5 cm
(Mount Athos), 18 July 1862
Engraver: Monk Averkios and hieromonk Charalambos



Jsed L sy ¥ ) 8aysll shyde e
o TUA X E0Y (Goulond i
VAT 13T T (a8

Jdyae plosd) 8L

e
¢

19 The Mother of God “the Unfading Rose”
Cooper engraving, 40.3x29.8 cm

Karyes, 6 March 1866

Engraver: Hierodeacon Gabriel
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20 Our Lady Esphagmeni (the Slaughtered)
Cooper engraving, 49x36.9 cm

(Mount Athos), 1763

Engraver: Giulian Zuliani

Restored: mid-19th c.
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21 The miracle of the Virgin and saint Athanasios
Cooper engraving, 25.4x19.6 cm

(Russia), 1st half of the 19th c.

Engraver: Stephanos the Athonite
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22 Our Lady the Merciful
Cooper engraving, 21.5x17.5 cm
(Venice or Mount Athos), 1810
Engraver: unkonwn
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23 The Saints of Mount Athos
Cooper engraving, 56x42.2 cm
(Mount Athos), mid-19th c.
Engraver: unknown
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24 Our Lady Gerontissa

Cooper engraving, 23.5x17 cm

(Mount Athos), ca 1830, Engraver: (Monk Theophil)
Restored: 1869, Engraver/restorer: Ioannis Kaldis
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